IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ik, supreme cour 8γ_

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

γs.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO: 94,027 TFB NO: 98-11,359 (12A)

RICHARD LEE BUCKLE,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED APPEAL OF REPORT OF REFEREE

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

This matter is presented for review to THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, pursuant to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar which gives this court jurisdiction and authority over the matters contained herein.

ATTORNEY'S CERTIFICATE OF SIZE AND STYLE OF TYPE

The undersigned attorneys hereby certify that this Brief is 12 point Courier New and not proportionately spaced as required by this Court.

uhan

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

HUMBLY COMES NOW, the Respondent, Licensed Attorney RICHARD LEE BUCKLE, ESQUIRE, in proper person, as co-counsel, and by and through his undersigned attorney of record, LAYON F. ROBINSON II, ESQUIRE, pursuant to Rule 3-7.7(c)(1), of the Rules of Discipline of The Florida Bar, and hereby appeals the Findings of Fact and Recommendations of the referee contained in his report to this Court dated May 12, 1999. The Respondent and his undersigned counsel respectfully pray and request that they be given the opportunity to orally argue the merits of this cause.

This case arises from one letter and two enclosures sent by the Respondent to the alleged victim of a crime in Toronto, Canada in June of 1997. The complaint by the alleged victim was not made until more than four months after the disposition of the criminal case. The position of The Florida Bar is that the letter in question and its enclosures constitute a violation of Rule 4-8.4d of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. It has been and continues to be the position of the Respondent that there was a substantial purpose to the letter other than to violate any provision of the rule and therefore that he did not knowingly, wilfully, or maliciously violate any rule in question. He claims that he was diligently representing his client and his client's

interests. His position was supported at trial by two duly qualified experts.

The matter was tried before a referee appointed by this Court on March 25 and 26, 1999, in Bradenton, Manatee County, Florida. The referee submitted a report to this Court on May 12, 1999, recommending that the Respondent be suspended for a period of thirty (30) days and that he be placed on probation for two (2) years during which time he may not send religious materials in connection with his practice of law to any opposing litigant or witness or attorney and further that failure to abide by the restriction on sending religious materials shall result in an action for contempt. The Respondent timely filed an objection to the Report of the Referee.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND NATURE OF CASE

On September 30, 1998, The Florida Bar filed their complaint against the Respondent based upon a letter sent by the Respondent to Ms. Lydia Gibas in Toronto, Canada, on June 25, 1997. Enclosed with that letter was the personal testimony of how the Respondent came to know Jesus Christ as his personal Lord and Savior and a Christian parable entitled "Who Are You Gonna Call?" The foundation of the complaint filed by The Florida Bar was that the letter and the two aforedescribed enclosures constituted a violation of the Florida Bar rules. The referee's findings were founded exclusively upon the content of the letter and

enclosures, the testimony of Ms. Gibas and the testimony of a prosecutor.

On June 7, 1997, the Respondent, Bradenton attorney Richard Lee Buckle, Esquire, was contacted by a female church friend of Donald Lavier Spaulding who was being detained in the Sarasota County Jail. He had been arrested by the Sarasota County Sheriff's Department on June 6, 1997. He was charged with false imprisonment, a felony of the third degree, pursuant to FSA 787.02(1)(a), and battery, a first degree misdemeanor, pursuant to FSA 784.03. His bond on each count was \$50,000 for a total bond of \$100,000.

The Probable Cause Affidavit (PCA) was faxed to attorney Buckle by a clerk in the sheriff's office in Sarasota on or about June 9, 1997. On that date attorney Buckle had his first telephone conference with his client. The PCA revealed that the alleged crime occurred on or about the late afternoon of June 1, 1997, on Mr. Spaulding's boat; the "Venture". The alleged victim was a 41 year old white female from Toronto Canada by the name of Lydia Gibas. She and Don Spaulding had met at a convenience store parking lot on Bradenton Beach on June 1, 1997. She initiated the conversation in the parking lot by asking him: "don't I know you from somewhere?" Her comment led to Mr. Spaulding inviting Ms. Gibas to dinner and later taking her to see his 28' cabin cruiser on which he resided. There he invited

her to spend the next day and possibly the next evening on board his boat at sea. She accepted his invitation. The following day Ms. Gibas voluntarily boarded his boat at the Bradenton Beach Marina just before noon. She was alone and knew that only she and Mr. Spaulding would be on the boat. She was dressed in a bikini covered with a loose top. The couple toured the local beach areas, went fishing, and later traveled along the Intercostal Waterway enroute to Coaster's Restaurant in Sarasota, Florida. At some point Mr. Spaulding tried to kiss her on the lips, but she asked him not to because she had a cold sore on her They arrived at Coaster's Restaurant and docked the boat lip. across a canal from the restaurant. Before they could walk a very short distance to the restaurant they were confronted by a woman and warned that they were trespassing on a private They were told that they would have to move condominium dock. their boat. They both spoke to a woman who demanded that they move their boat. Ms. Gibas had her purse, wallet, credit cards, and U.S. currency in the amount of approximately \$200. She voluntarily reboarded the boat after Mr. Spaulding was unable to persuade the condominium tenant to allow him to dock his boat there while they ate. After they left the dock they traveled back out onto the Intercoastal Waterway. Soon it became dark and dangerous to navigate. Mr. Spaulding announced that he was going to put out the anchor and that they would be spending the night.

He then retired to the cabin below and was followed by Ms. Gibas who attempted to call the Coast Guard on her cellular phone. That upset Mr. Spaulding because his boat was not properly registered. He grabbed Ms. Gibas by the forearm and attempted to remove her phone from her possession. In the process she threw him to the floor and beat him over the head several times with her camera and then tried to get her camera strap around his neck in an effort to choke him. Ms. Gibas then demanded that Mr. Spaulding return to the third deck of his boat, pull up anchor, and drive her to shore. Mr. Spaulding followed her orders. As they were traveling along a sailboat was passing by them. Ms. Gibas shouted and screamed to the three occupants who with the assistance of Mr. Spaulding pulled up along side of his boat. Ms. Gibas then boarded the sailboat. She was taken to Bradenton where she reported the incident to the local police. During the day on the boat Ms. Gibas reported to Mr. Spaulding that she had come down to the Manatee County area to visit a male friend whom she used to work for in a tavern in Toronto. He had sent her a plane ticket. After she arrived in Sarasota she and her friend had a disagreement which resulted in her going her separate way. She rented a motel room on Bradenton Beach and later encountered Mr. Spaulding. Ms. Gibas was then approximately 5'5" tall with long brown brunette hair to her waist. She weighed approximately 125 lbs. Mr. Spaulding at the time was a white male, 48 years of

age, 5'7" tall weighing approximately 155 lbs. Mr. Spaulding acknowledged that he had sexual contact in mind after he took Ms. Gibas to dinner. He was especially encouraged when she accepted his invitation to go on his boat and spend the night. He perceived her acceptance of his invitation to be an acceptance on her part to desire to engage in sexual relations with him. He said that after they left Coaster's Restaurant that she voluntarily removed the top to her bikini and allowed him to take several photographs of her with her camera naked from the waist up. Ms. Gibas denied the same. That was the same camera with which she beat Mr. Spaulding about the head causing severe lacerations and bleeding. She later reported to the police that she removed the film from her camera after she got to shore and exposed it. She has never given a reason for doing so. During their trip Ms. Gibas reported to Mr. Spaulding that two years previously her sister had been murdered and raped in Toronto, Canada. She also told Mr. Spaulding that she had just put her mother in a mental institution as a result thereof. She stated that she had been living with her father and that she had financial problems.

In her deposition Ms. Gibas was asked every question addressed to her in the Respondent's letter dated June 25, 1997. She also admitted that she knew before she boarded Mr. Spaulding's boat that she may be spending the night with him

alone and also that she battered him and caused severe lacerations to his head and abrasions to his arms during their struggle. Between June 9, 1997, and June 25, 1997, the Respondent made numerous telephone contacts with the prosecuting attorney, Scott Van Ness. They had several telephone conversations about the pending case. Numerous times the Respondent asked Mr. Van Ness whether or not Ms. Gibas intended to pursue the charges for which his client was being detained. Mr. Van Ness continually told the Respondent that he had not had the time to contact Ms. Gibas to discuss the facts. His client was anxious to be exonerated and released from jail. During this period of time the Respondent spoke with more than a dozen adult women, his investigator, a retired clinical psychologist, and other lawyers who were all confirmed to him that in their opinion that Mr. Spaulding's invitation to go on the boat with him alone, all day and possibly all night, was an invitation to have sexual relations with Ms. Gibas and that her coming aboard his boat was an acceptance of that unspoken offer. Mr. Buckle's investigator is an experienced yachtsman who had confirmed to the Respondent the numerous and significant dangers involved in attempting to navigate the Intercoastal Waterway at night.

Between June 9 and 25, 1997, a substantial investigation was conducted by the Respondent and his investigator which included, visiting all of the places involved in the alleged offense,

photographing them, and interviewing witnesses. There was a serious question as to venue; i.e. whether or not this alleged offense occurred in Sarasota or Manatee County, Florida. Mr. Spaulding vigorously insisted that there was no merit to the claims of Ms. Gibas. The Respondent had many unanswered questions.

On October 22, 1997, Mr. Spaulding pled nolo contendre to the count of misdemeanor battery by virtue of his having grabbed Ms. Gibas by the forearm in an effort to stop her from using her cellular phone. He was sentenced to credit for time served and placed on eight months probation with the special condition that he have no further contact with Ms. Gibas. The felony charge of false imprisonment was nol-prossed or dropped by the State.

On June 25, 1997, the Respondent, Richard Lee Buckle, was in a position where he had exhausted all known possibilities of further investigation. The law provides that a defendant cannot be held for more than thirty (30) days without a formal charge being filed against him. On June 25, 1997, no formal charges had been filed and it appeared to the Respondent that prosecutor Scott Van Ness was dragging his feet and in no hurry to make a filing decision. Mr. Spaulding demanded that the Respondent do everything in his power to prove his innocence. The Respondent maintains that the letter which he wrote to Ms. Gibas dated June 25, 1997, had several substantial purposes other than to

embarrass, humiliate, disparage, or discriminate against her. He continues to maintain that the inclusion of his personal testimony and the accompanying Christian parable did not constitute a further effort or attempt to interfere with the administration of justice by attempting to intimidate, harass, or otherwise cause Ms. Gibas to withdraw her intent to prosecute Mr. Spaulding. He testified that his only intent was to share the Gospel and be obedient to the commandment of his Lord and Savior Jesus Christ to share God's love and fulfill the Great Commission (Matthew 28:16-20).

The burden of proof was on The Florida Bar to establish the Respondent's intent by clear and convincing evidence. The Respondent continues to maintain that The Florida Bar failed in that endeavor at the trial.

ISSUES OF LAW

ISSUE OF LAW NO. 1

Whether or not the referee's conclusions of fact and law are adequately supported by the evidence in the record by clear and convincing evidence?

ISSUE OF LAW NO. 2

Whether or not the Supreme Court of Florida has the power and authority to prohibit the Respondent from exercising his First Amendment rights by including Christian tracts or religious materials in his correspondence?

ISSUE OF LAW NO. 3

Whether or not Rule 4-8.4d of the Rules of Professional Regulation is constitutional as applied to the facts at issue?

ISSUE OF LAW NO. 4

Whether or not the discipline recommended by the Referee is fair, just, and reasonable under the circumstances?

RESPONSE AS TO ISSUES OF LAW

AS TO ISSUE OF LAW NO. 1:

In his Findings of Fact, contained in paragraph III, on page 2 of his report, the referee, stated, in the fourth full paragraph, that the letter which Mr. Buckle sent to Ms. Gibas dated June 25, 1997, was "On its' face, . . . objectively humiliating and intimidating to a reasonable person standing in Ms. Gibas' place." If his conclusion is true then it would make no difference if the letter had a substantial legal purpose. Such a holding is clearly contrary to the rule and the law. The referee goes on to state that "the letter's intent is obvious: Respondent is threatening to explore and exploit the most personal and important aspects and relationships in Ms. Gibas' life, to hold these aspects of her life up to public scrutiny, to expose her." Does not competent advocacy require the possibility of the same in a case based on such facts? He further notes that Ms. Gibas testified that she did consider abandoning her criminal

complaint against Mr. Spaulding as a direct result of receiving Mr. Buckle's letter and that a reasonable person in Ms. Gibas' place might well have considered abandoning the cause as well. Could it be that she considered abandoning her complaint because she had lied? All confrontation of victims in similar positions by defense attorneys is, by its very nature, embarrassing, humiliating, disparaging, and intimidating. The referee's skewed reasoning continues in the last paragraph on page 2 of his report when by his logic, he concludes: "Because the intent of the letter as written is obvious from reading it, it must be inferred that the Respondent intended its' affect on Ms. Gibas." That logical inference completely ignores the evidence presented by the Respondent without legal justification or consideration of the testimony of the Respondent and his two experts. He goes on to state and conclude that the letter had no substantial purpose other than to embarrass, intimidate, or otherwise burden Ms. Gibas. He further found, as a finding of fact, that: "Mr. Buckle's argument that he intended his letter to be an investigative tool, or a request for information, is not credible, in that no reasonable attorney would ever expect such a letter to be actually answered by the purported victim of a crime." Therefore he must, by logic, have reached the conclusion that the Respondent's two expert witnesses are not reasonable attorneys. That flawed reasoning is apparently based upon his

logical deduction that no reasonable attorney would ever expect such a letter to actually be answered by the receiver. The referee concluded that Mr. Buckle's testimony was not credible or believable because it must be based upon the standard or "test" of what a reasonable person might expect. The referee's deductions and logic are clearly in error. The issue is not, and never could be, what a reasonable attorney might expect the reaction to a letter to be to its recipient; i.e. "expectation" cannot be the test and is not the test under the rules or the The law clearly is that if such a letter has a substantial law. purpose other than to embarrass, humiliate, disparage, or discriminate against, then it is immaterial and irrelevant what the subjective reaction of the receiver is; i.e. even if it in fact embarrasses, intimidates, disparages, or discriminates against the receiver. The Respondent unequivocally testified that his intent was lawful and that he did not willfully or knowingly violate any provision of the rules. The only impeachment of his testimony was the opinion of the referee. The Respondent's credibility was supported by numerous character witnesses who were all distinguished and honorable persons in his community. His letter must therefore stand or fall upon its content and not the subjective reaction of Ms. Gibas. The opinion of an expert attorney with significant experience in the field of criminal law should weigh heavily in reaching a conclusion. If a

violation of these rules could be determined solely by the reaction of the receiver of a letter then there would be no way a lawyer could know what language is and is not permissible. Such a set of rules would absolutely result in an unfair interference with the administration of justice.

The Florida Bar's complaint against the Respondent contains several alleged violations none of which are supported by direct proof of his corrupt motive. The Respondent's letter to Ms. Gibas dated June 25, 1997, contained 88 sentences. The letter was broken down into 88 numbered lines and received in evidence as an exhibit. The Bar was unable to produce any testimony that any particular one of the 88 sentences constituted a violation. Instead, the argument was that the letter taken as a whole obviously constituted a violation. The Bar's position was that the letter or significant portions thereof had no substantial purpose other than to embarrass, humiliate, disparage, or discriminate against Ms. Gibas. That position was and is in great conflict. Furthermore the referee held that the letter or significant portions thereof constituted an attempt to interfere with the administration of justice by attempting to intimidate or harass Ms. Gibas into withdrawing her intent to prosecute. Those allegations were not supported in the record by clear and convincing evidence or a clear preponderance of the evidence against him. The Bar alleged that the insertion by the

Respondent of "religious materials" had no substantial purpose other than to further embarrass, humiliate, disparage, or discriminate against Ms. Gibas; i.e. that they augmented and thus exacerbated the effect of the letter. They further claimed that said "religious materials" were a further attempt to interfere with the administration of justice by attempting to intimidate or harass or otherwise cause Ms. Gibas to withdraw her intent to prosecute. The nature of the charges brought against the Respondent allege that the letter and enclosed religious materials had no substantial purpose other than to embarrass, delay, or burden third persons or knowingly use methods of obtaining evidence that violate the rights of such person pursuant to law. They allege that the Respondent engaged in conduct in connection with the practice of law which was prejudicially administration of justice by **knowingly** or through callous indifference, disparaged, humiliated, or discriminated against a witness. There was conflicting evidence introduced at trial that the letter and enclosed religious materials had no substantial purpose other than to violate the rules. Furthermore, there was absolutely no evidence introduced or presented before the referee to suggest or infer that the Respondent knowingly or through callous indifference violated any of the rules with which he was charged. Findings of the same by the referee were illogical deductions and conclusions made by him

on impermissible inferences from the facts and the law. The truth is that the disposition proposed by the referee constitutes a position of intolerance of the Respondent's religious beliefs. The only logical conclusion which can be drawn from the referee's findings are that the religious materials enclosed by the Respondent were in and of themselves a violation of the rules. Therefore any letter sent by the Respondent including such religious materials must by its very inclusion constitute a violation.

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