DFI DEC 0 7 1999 CLERK, SUPREME COURT SEAUX 12/21

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 94,027

TFB No. 98-11,359 (12A)

v.

RICHARD LEE BUCKLE,

Respondent.

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF

OF

THE FLORIDA BAR

BRETT ALAN GEER Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Florida Bar No. 061107

.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The referee's factual findings are supported by clear and convincing evidence of a competent and substantial nature. The findings are accorded great weight and carry a presumption of correctness, and Respondent has failed to present any sufficient reason why any of the findings should be reversed.

The referee specifically found Respondent's explanation of his motive in drafting and sending the subject correspondence to lack credibility. (RR at 2.) The referee's findings in this regard likewise are presumed correct, and, though Respondent seeks to reprise his explanation in this appeal, this Court cannot see or hear the explanations as originally offered, as did the referee. Respondent has failed to rebut the presumed correctness of the referee's determination that his explanation lacked credibility.

Respondent complains that the trial court disregarded the testimony of two attorney-witnesses whom he tendered as experts, but who failed to impress the court with their qualifications and/or opinions. Just as the referee's factual findings are presumed correct, his determinations regarding the credibility of witnesses are likewise presumed to be correct. The Bar asserts that the expert witnesses' respective qualifications were

insufficient, and that their opinions were not objectively sustainable; thus the referee committed no error by giving little weight to them.

The Bar argues that the recommended sanction is appropriate given the facts, the aggravating factors, and the Respondent's prior disciplinary history, and that the referee's recommended sanction fulfills the purposes of Bar discipline. Respondent argues that certain prior cases involving attorneys who sent offensive correspondence resulted in no more than a public reprimand. However, Respondent ignores the aggravating factor of his similar misconduct directed toward Spaulding's rape victim, and he refuses to recognize the wrongful nature of his conduct toward Ms. Gibas. Respondent's argument of the case law lacks merit because it does not address the instant aggravating circumstances found by the referee, which include his two (2) prior instances of formal discipline and his substantial experience in practicing law. Moreover, Respondent's misconduct is more eqregious than the conduct reported in the cases upon which he seeks to rely. This fact, coupled with the aggravation, makes the recommended discipline appropriate.

Finally, the issue of the recommended probation and the condition under which Respondent must serve it is more properly

cast as: whether this Court may preclude an attorney from distributing religious speech by and through the license it has granted him, as a term of disciplinary probation. When this Court grants a license to practice law it creates an officer of the courts of this state; by practicing law, Respondent acts under color of the judicial branch of the state. When Respondent uses his license as the means by which he espouses his religious views, and directs those views to witnesses, litigants, other attorneys and judicial officers, such conduct can violate standards of professional conduct under certain factual circumstances, as found here. It also can exceed the parameters of licensure in a general sense, because the recipients of the religious speech are a captive audience, in that they may not reasonably ignore the legal matters within which Respondent encloses his religious speech.

As for Respondent's argument that this Court cannot constitutionally restrain him from using his state-granted law license as the platform from which he promotes his particular religion, the Bar counters that if such conduct interferes with the administration of justice in this state, then this Court has a compelling state interest in preventing same. Because Respondent transmits religious speech by and through the

privilege granted by this Court, it is the Bar's position that this Court may properly enjoin him from doing just that -leaving him free to distribute religious speech using any means other than his license to practice law.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FACTUAL FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Respondent contends that the referee failed to properly consider the opinions of two attorneys whom Respondent called as expert witnesses. Respondent offers no evidence of this asserted dereliction, save for the fact that the referee's report makes no mention of the opinions. It is much more likely that the referee duly considered the opinions and deemed them insufficient when weighed against the factual evidence.

The respective qualifications of each expert witness offered by Respondent were insufficient to clearly and convincingly establish the person as qualified to give expert testimony on the particular legal ethics at issue in this case. (see Tr. 1, Pages 87-97; and Tr. 1, Pages 105-109.) In sum, the testimony amounted to little more than personal opinions given by licensed attorneys who know the Respondent. Respondent argues that, because the Bar chose not to offer any controverting opinion testimony, the referee erred by not slavishly adopting as competent and substantial the opinion evidence Respondent presented.

Simply stated, opinion evidence is of dubious benefit in a factual scenario as uncomplicated and uncontroverted as the instant one. Respondent admitted drafting and sending the

subject three-page letter with enclosed religious tracts to the victim of an attempted sexual assault. The victim testified that she was humiliated, intimidated, and scared by receiving the subject letter (Bar's Exh. 1, Page 13, lines 15-18), and that Respondent's inclusion of religious materials with the letter made her feel like Respondent "was using God as a means to maybe make me feel guilty about pursuing the charges." (Bar's Exh. 1, Page 27, lines 15-20.) Those facts establish harassment and intimidation of an adverse witness from a psychologic as well as a religious perspective. Thus, under a Rule 4-8.4(d) calculus, the pertinent inquiry is whether her reaction was reasonable, under an objective, reasonable person standard. This requires a largely intuitive analysis of the factual evidence. As such, expert testimony is not especially insightful or instructive, unless it comes from an expert in human behavior -- which both expert witnesses were not. The referee found that the subject letter was objectively humiliating and intimidating. (RR at 2.)

Respondent wanted his experts to add weight to his assertion that his intentions were honorable and reasonable in drafting and sending the subject correspondence. However, under a 4-8.4(d) analysis, the Bar needed to prove only that Respondent's conduct arose from "callous indifference", which most certainly was

proven here. Respondent admitted that he had judged Ms. Gibas to be a "woman of low morals" prior to sending her the letter at issue. (Tr. 1, Page 23, line 23.) Though Respondent could not justify this moral judgment (<u>see</u> Tr. 1, Page 134, line 18 et seq.), his attitude is apparent in the letter he wrote. Respondent also testified that Ms. Gibas needed to be "saved." (Tr. 1, Page 140, lines 13-24.) Expert testimony cannot clarify such telling admissions regarding Respondent's actual intent.

Respondent also sought to prove, through the opinion evidence, that his sending of the subject correspondence had a "substantial purpose" under a Rule 4-4.4 calculus. Respondent's position is that his substantial purpose in sending the subject letter was to ask the alleged crime victim to voluntarily supply all sorts of private, confidential, and personally embarrassing informal discovery upon receiving the letter. According to Respondent, the letter was intended to be a legitimate request for information; thus it had a substantial purpose. Respondent reasserts this defense on appeal, and implicitly argues that his "substantial purpose" was clearly and convincingly established by the two experts opining that the letter had a substantial purpose. This defense and the attempt to establish it through expert testimony is transparent. The referee expressly found it

to be not credible, which presumably is why he did not consider the opinion testimony supporting the same worthy of mention. (RR at 3).

In disciplinary proceedings, the referee's findings are accorded substantial weight, and should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Wagner</u>, 212 So. 2d 770 (Fla. 1968). Respondent has failed to challenge the referee's factual findings in any way sufficient to warrant their reversal.

II. THE RECOMMENDED SANCTION IS APPROPRIATE IN VIEW OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT AND PRIOR DISCIPLINARY RECORD.

The Bar contends that the referee gave due and sufficient consideration to the aggravating factors in determining the recommended sanction. As a result, the recommended sanction achieves the objectives of Bar discipline, because it is consistent not only with the adjudicated misconduct and the factors aggravating it, but also with the relevant case law, and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

The objectives of Bar discipline, the Standards, the case authority, and the ends of justice are all well served by imposing on Respondent the recommended 30-day suspension followed by a two (2) year probation, during which Respondent shall be

prohibited from using his state-granted law license as the means by which he delivers religious speech to persons who cannot reasonably decline or refuse such correspondences -- i.e., opposing litigants, witnesses, and attorneys.

While a referee's recommendation regarding discipline is persuasive, this Court has the ultimate responsibility to determine and order the appropriate sanction in any given case. <u>The Florida Bar v. Reed</u>, 644 So. 2d 1355, 1357 (Fla. 1994). A Bar disciplinary action must serve three purposes: the judgment must be fair to society, it must be fair to the attorney, and it must be severe enough to deter other attorneys from similar misconduct. <u>The Florida Bar v. Lawless</u>, 640 So. 2d 1098, 1100 (Fla. 1994).

In imposing attorney discipline, this Court must consider a respondent's previous discipline, and increase the discipline where appropriate. <u>The Florida Bar v. Bern</u>, 425 So. 2d 526, 528 (Fla. 1982). This case reveals that Respondent has received two (2) prior admonishments for professional misconduct, both occurring in 1993. (RR at 5.)

Respondent relies on <u>The Florida Bar v. Johnson</u>, 511 So. 2d 295 (Fla. 1987), and <u>The Florida Bar v. Sayler</u>, 721 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 1998), as authority for imposing a public reprimand in this

However, Respondent's sending of the subject letter is case. more egregious and more reprehensible than the sending of the letters in those cases. In Johnson, the offending correspondence was sent merely in an attempt to secure the lawyer's fee. In Sayler, the attorney sent to his opposing counsel in a workers compensation matter copies of then-recent news articles regarding violence perpetrated by claimants against lawyers defending workers compensation claims. The referee found that the articles bore no relevance to the case at hand, and that they were sent to intimidate or frighten the recipient. Id. at 1154. This Court imposed a public reprimand and placed Mr. Sayler on probation for six months, during which he was to undergo a mental health evaluation. Id. at 1155. It is important to note that neither Johnson nor Sayler involved a respondent who previously had been disciplined. Here, Respondent has two (2) prior disciplines.

Moreover, Respondent avoids any discussion of the instant aggravating circumstances found by the referee, which militate for sterner discipline. The most significant aggravating fact is the similar fact evidence involving Respondent's conduct toward the woman whom his client had raped. This constitutes both a pattern of misconduct and multiple offenses -- neither of which appear in the <u>Johnson</u> or <u>Sayler</u> opinions.

The aspect of this case that most distinguishes it from Johnson and Sayler, as regards the appropriate sanction, is Respondent's motivation to intimidate Ms. Gibas into giving up her criminal complaint against Respondent's client. Though this finding was not expressly made by the referee, the sum and substance of the published findings lead only to that conclusion. As stated, <u>Johnson</u> evidenced merely a bizarre attempt to collect a legal fee, whereas <u>Sayler</u> involved an ongoing clash between opposing lawyers who disliked one another, culminating in an oblique reference to lawyers who died violently. These seem petty annoyances when compared with the appalling, overt scare tactic used by Respondent against Ms. Gibas, a citizen of a foreign country who had been victimized criminally while visiting Florida. Respondent's conduct was a much more palpable attempt to interfere with the administration of justice than either Mr. Johnson or Mr. Sayler made. The fact that his client actually was guilty of victimizing these two women makes Respondent's misconduct even more reprehensible.

Standard 6.30, Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, states that "the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving attempts to influence a witness..." Standard 6.32 is therefore the appropriate standard

to consider in determining an appropriate sanction in the instant case. Standard 6.32 states: "Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer engages in communication with an individual in the legal system when the lawyer knows that such communication is improper, and causes injury or potential injury to a party, or causes interference or potential interference with the outcome of the legal proceeding."

Here, Respondent attempted to intimidate from afar a female citizen of another country who already had been terrorized by his client. Aggravating that conduct is the fact that he also attempted to intimidate a local woman whom his client had raped. The purpose of Respondent's tactics is not difficult for a thinking person to discern: he intended to harass, humiliate or intimidate these crime victims into giving up their quest for justice. This mind-set alone militates strongly for suspension as an appropriate sanction.

Moreover, the referee determined that Respondent owes these two women a written apology for his conduct, and the Bar heartily agrees with that remedial condition. If Respondent cannot or will not fashion and submit an acceptable written apology to each woman by the expiration of his 30-day suspension, then his suspension should continue until and unless he does so.

Given Respondent's instant misconduct, the actual or potential harm resulting therefrom, his prior misconduct, and the other aggravating factors present, the threefold objectives of Bar discipline will be adequately served by this Court's approval of the referee's recommended sanction.

III. THIS COURT MAY, AS A TERM OF PROBATION, PROHIBIT RESPONDENT FROM USING THE LICENSE IT GRANTED HIM AS THE MEANS THROUGH WHICH HE TRANSMITS RELIGIOUS SPEECH TO LITIGANTS, WITNESSES, AND OTHER ATTORNEYS.

Respondent casts the recommended probation term as an impermissible infringement of his First Amendment right to practice his chosen religion. However, as is argued below, this issue is more properly analyzed under the First Amendment's Establishment Clause, and not under the Free Exercise Clause. The text of the First Amendment is as follows:

> "Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech..."

<u>U.S. Const.</u> amend. I. The facts of this case present an intersection of speech and religion. Respondent admits that he encloses pre-printed religious tracts with each and every correspondence that he sends out in his capacity as a practicing attorney. He does so without regard to the circumstances and without reflection as to the particular circumstance. (Tr. 1,

Page 182, lines 1-9.) Respondent made no inquiry of himself as to whether or not it was appropriate for him to enclose the instant religious materials with the letter to Ms. Gibas. (Tr. 1, Page 181, lines 9-17.) At trial the Bar argued, and the referee found, that under some circumstances -- most particularly, the instant one -- it clearly can be inappropriate to enclose religious speech with an attorney's correspondence. (RR at 3.)

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